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INTRODUCTION

Houselore has been contracted by LS3P to research and evaluate 
the aforementioned properties to determine their eligibility for 
preservation or demolition. What follows is an evaluation of these 
properties by historian Alexandra Jones of Houselore. 

Alexandra studied Architectural History at Miami University before 
relocating to Scotland and attaining a Masters of History from the 
University of Glasgow. There, she worked for the Glasgow City 
Heritage Trust as an architectural historian. 

After returning to Charleston, Alexandra worked for several 
prominent historical organizations including Middleton Place, The 
Charleston Museum, and the Old Exchange Building.  She later 
established Houselore, providing historic preservation and 
restoration consultation services in the USA and UK. 

The aforementioned property histories will 
each be presented in chronological order.



609 King Street 
Charleston, SC 

Circa 1928-44



1819-1853

A court ordered auction and 
sale of land at present-day 
609 King St, dated June 17th, 
1853 transferring the property 
from the deceased owner 
Jesse Gary and his wife 
Louisa Gary to the highest 
bidder, John Wilson, for the 
sum of $1,767.00 

No building is mentioned, but 
the lot size is detailed - see 
below.

"That lot of land // on the west side of King Street between Columbus 
and // Streets in the city of Charleston being part of a // lots of the 
Estate of Jesse R. Gary deceased and measuring in front on King 
Street thirty three feet three inches (33.3) by about two hundred feet 
in depth (200)..." 

In a portion detailing payment, the document does mention a previous 
owner, William Howis, who was in possession of the property as of 
1819 and made payment to the Bank of South Carolina.



1864 Map by Robert Knox

In this annotated detail from a printed map, the city of Charleston is 
delineated and Confederate fortifications along the Ashley and 
Cooper rivers are indicated. Also indicated is the area of the city 
that burned as a result of Union shelling. 

This is the earliest available visual depiction of the established 
intersection of Columbus and King streets. Note that Rodger's 
Alley is not depicted.

1864



Bird's eye view of the city of Charleston, South 
Carolina 1872 by C. N. Drie

The first  visual depiction of present-day 609 King St. 

This map shows two two-story gable-front buildings connected by a 
two-story hyphen with a flat roof. While not a perfect record of the
appearance of the earlier building, it does match with the 1888 and 
1902 Sanborn Fire Insurance Maps, which show a wood, two story 
building in this location. 

The 1872 map and the Sanborns suggest that perhaps the previous 
building was originally two separate buildings that were then joined 
together, but that’s speculative.

1872



A deed to the property at present-day 609 King St, dated September 
25th, 1886. Note that this is 25 days after the infamous earthquake on 
August 31st. It remains in the Wilson family, and is a family conveyance 
from Frances Wilson (widow of John Wilson) to her daughter Jane 
Wilson for the sum of $5.00. 

A property description follows on the next page.

1886



"All my right and interest in and to all that lot of land with the 
buildings therein situated on the west side of King Street opposite 
Columbus Street in the City of Charleston in the state aforesaid: 
measuring and containing sixty two feet in front on King Street, 
one hundred and ninety five feet on the North side, sixty two feet 
on the West side and two hundred feet on the South side // be the 
said dimensions // Butting and bounding to the North by lands 
formerly of O. Reed, to the East on King Street, to the West by 
lands formerly of E.H. Reagus and to the South by lands formerly 
of E.H. Reagus. Also all the right and interest to which I have in 
and to all the lot of land with the buidlings thereon situated on the 
West side of King Street in the City of Charleston aforesaid being 
part of a lot of land of the Estate of Jesse Gary deceased. 
Measuring and containing in front on King Street thirty three feet 
three inches by about two hundred feet in depth in the said
dimensions more or less: Butting and bounding to the North on 
land of M McBride, to the South on land of McLain, to the west on 
land of   and to the East on King Street aforesaid: which last 
described // lot of land hereby conveyed, was heretofore 
conveyed to the late John Wilson by James W. Gray // in Equity 
by and dated the 28th of July, 1853..."

1886 (cont'd)



1888

Sanborn Fire Map of Charleston, c. 1888.

The 1888 Sanborn Map reflects the 
visual depiction in the map from 1872. 
It shows that the building at 
609/611/613 King St was a two story 
wood frame structure with a narrow 
separation in between 611 and 613.

1872 Bird's Eye Map



1902-44

Sanborn Fire Map of Charleston, c. 1902

The 1902 Sanborn Map still reflects the layout of the 1872 map. The 
structure is still wood frame and two stories. It appears to be used as a 
cafe, store, chinese laundry, and restaurant.  

The most notable differences are that the middle building, previously 
611, is now split between 609 1/2 and 611. There is also a small new 
1 story free standing structure behind the middle of the building.



1944

Sanborn Fire Map of Charleston, c. 1944

The 1944 Sanborn Map shows a new structure at the 609/611/613 
King St site. We now see the present-day (2017) one story cinder 
block commercial building. In 1944, it appears to be split between 
three shops and a restaurant. This new building kept the street 
numbering and the basic layout of four storefronts, but has been 
adjusted slightly once again. Now we see 609, 611, 611 1/2, and 613.

(Left) Several alterations were 
made to the new facade
throughout the 1930s, as 
indicated in this notice from the 
News and Courier in 1935.



1962

1962 Plat of 609/611/613 King Street

This 1962 Plat of 609/611/613 King Street was completed by Ben 
Cheatham. It shows that as of 1962, the property was owned by 
the Colin McK. Grant Home.



1964

A deed dated November 
17th, 1964 conveying the 
property at 609/611/613 
King Street from the Colin 
McK. Grant Home to the 
Evening Post Publishing 
Company and The News 
and Courier Company for 
the sum of $50,000. 

The lot size is detailed 
below:

"All that certain piece, parcel or lot of land, situate, lying and being 
at the Northwest corner of King Street and Rodgers Alley, opposite 
Columbus Street, in the City of Charleston, Count of Charleston, 
State of South Carolina, which is more fully described and 
delineated on a Plat thereof made by Ben F. Cheatham...dated 
December 1962."

Note that Colin Grant was the husband of Jane Wilson, who had 
inherited the property in 1886. Jane left the property to the Colin 
McK. Grant Home, a charity,  in her Last Will and Testament dated 
September 8th, 1920.



1964 - 2017

In the ensuing years between 
1964 and 2017, the property at 
609 King Street has been used 
for a variety of commercial 
purposes, including a pawn 
shop, furniture store, antique 
store, and newspaper 
distribution warehouse. 

It is also clear to the observer 
that the current facade has 
been altered several times.

609 King Street facade, c. 2017

Aerial view of 609 King Street, c. 2017



Summary and 
Recommendation 

 
609 King Street

As of 2017, 609 King St is a one story structure comprised of cinder 
blocks, miscellaneous masonry, and stucco frontage. The facade 
includes architectural detailing in the Art Deco style. 

We have estimated the construction date of the current structure to 
be c.1928, based primarily on two pieces of evidence. The first is the
Art Deco styling of the facade, which suggests a construction date 
within the 1920s. 

We narrowed down the date by cross-referencing the Charleston City 
Directories in the 1920s and early 1930s, which showed that the 
building stopped being a residence sometime between 1928 and 
1930. This is only a few years after Jane Wilson left the property to 
her husband's charitable foundation in her Will.  

Architectural Significance



609 King Street contributes to the proposed expansion to the 
National Register listed Charleston Historic District. This area was 
formally determined eligible by the Keeper of the National Register 
in the late 1980s, but was never listed because a majority of owners 
opposed the nomination at the time. 

While the building could contribute to the significance of a historic 
district, it does not appear to possess individual historical 
significance. Its architecture is not particularly distinctive beyond its 
Art Decor facade, but even this is no longer in its original state from 
the late 1920s - 1930s.The research conducted shows businesses, 
proprietors, and residents typical to Upper King Street in the early 
20th century.

We believe it is fair to assume that the change from commercial- 
residential to commercial-only also coincides with the replacement of 
the two-story wood structure with the present building, which would
mean the existing structure was built sometime within those two 
years. Given the onset of the Great Depression in late 1929, it’s 
unlikely that the building was constructed afterwards - which leaves 
us with 1928 or early 1929 as probable construction dates.

Historical Significance

Conclusion

After thorough historical research, it is the conclusion of Houselore 
and its representative, Alexandra Jones, that the property known as 
609 King Street may be demolished without significant negative 
impact on the historic tapestry of Upper King Street.



629/631/633 King Street 
Charleston, SC 29401

629 King St:  Demolished 
631 King St: Circa 1959, major alterations 1971 

633 King St: Circa 1971



1866-1868

A court document dated 
September 3rd, 1866 stating
that the property at 
629/631/633 is foreclosed 
and sold at auction from the 
Palmetto Savings Institution 
to Abraham Sechendorf and 
Joseph Dothage for the sum 
of $2,575. It was finalized in 
1868. 

The property is described in 
the deed as below:

"That lot of land and with the Buildings thereon situate lying and 
having in the West side of King Street near Line Street, measuring 
and Containing in the front and rear lines Seventy Six feet six 
inches (76ft 6in) and in depth two hundred (200) feet Butting and 
Bounding North in land now or late of Thomas Gadsden, South on 
land now or late of the Estate of   Horry. Eastern King Street, and 
West on land of."



1872

Bird's eye view of the city of Charleston, South Carolina
1872 by C. N. Drie

The first visual representation of present-day 629/631/633 King Street. 
Depicted are what appears to be an unusually shaped public building 
with attached two-story structure. Also a collection of 1 to 2 story 
detached structures. 



1873

A deed dated January 10th, 
1873 conveying the property 
from Abraham and Joseph to 
a William A. Kenyon for the 
sum of $2,000.  

The description of the 
property is as follows:

"All that lot of land and the buildings thereon situate lying and being 
on the west Side of King Street, near Line Street measuring and 
containing on the front and rear sides seventy six feet six inches and 
in depth two hundred feet // the Said dimensions more or less: 
Butting and Bounding to the north in lands now or late of Thomas 
Gadsden, // on land now or late of Estate of Henry East on King 
Street and west on lands...."



1875
A deed dated November 
12th, 1875, conveying 631 
King Street from George 
Davis to Henry Gerdts for 
the sum of $1,500.  

This property is described 
as below: 

"All that lot of land situate lying and being on the West side of King 
Street near Line Street Measuring and containing on the front and rear 
line Thirty six feet, more or less and in depth Two hundred feet be the 
same more or less. Butting and Bounding to the North on land of 
William A. Kenyon, South on land now or late of the Estate of Henry, 
East on King Street and West on land of --- Being part of land 
conveyed by Master Tupper to Abraham Sechendorf and Joseph 
Dothage by deed dated May 19th 1868..and since transferred to 
William A. Kenyon by deed dated January 10th 1873."



1876
A deed dated May 24th, 
1876 conveying 631 King 
Street from Henry Gerdts to 
J.L. Bischoff for the sum of 
$900.  

A description of the property 
follows below:

"All that lot of land situate lying and being on the West side of King 
Street near Line Street in the City of Charleston State aforesaid // and 
Containing on the front and rear lines thirty six feet more or less and in 
depth two hundred feet be the same more or less. Butting and 
Bounding in the North on land of William A. Kenyon, South on land 
now or late of the Estate of Henry, East on King Street and West on 
lands of --- being the premises conveyed by George Davis to the 
Grantor herein by deed."



1888

Sanborn Fire Map of Charleston, c. 1888

The first Sanborn representation of 629, 631 and 633 King Street. It 
starkly contrasts to the only previous visual, the 1872 Bird's Eye map. 
The earthquake of 1886 occurred in the interim, which may explain the 
change in appearance to an extent. There appears to be no structure at 
629, a two story wood frame dwelling at 631 that also functions as soda 
and mineral water distribution, and  a collection of 3 one-story buildings 
at 633, the two rear buildings with shingle roofs, and which was 
apparently used for poultry.



1896

A deed dated September 
22nd, 1896 conveying 633 
King Street from Mrs. Anne 
Kenyon, widow of William 
Kenyon, Bessie Kenyon, 
unmarried, William Kenyon, 
bachelor, and Mrs. Sadie Hyer 
nee Kenyon to a Mrs. Charlotte 
D. Hyer for the sum of $900.  

Description of the property is 
as follows below:

"All that lot of land with the buildings thereon situated, lying and being 
on the West side of King Street known as No. 633, in the City and 
County of Charleston and State of South Carolina - Measuring and 
Containing in front on King Street Twenty feet, six inches and in depth 
two hundred feet be the said dimensions more or less - Butting and 
Bounding East on King Street, North on lands of    ; of // lot herein 
conveyed being the Northern portion of the land conveyed to W.A. 
Kenyon by A. Sechendorf et al. by deed dated 10th January 1873."



1902

A deed dated January 17th, 
1902 conveying 633 King St 
from Adolph Ceramer to Dave 
Rubin for the sum of $900. 

The description of the property 
is as follows below: 

"All that lot piece or parcel of land situate lying and being in the City of 
Charleston in said State and known as No. 633 King street being a 
portion of premises formerly owned and occupied by William A. Kenyon 
- The strip of land hereby conveyed measuring and containing in front 
on King Street Twenty (20) feet by Two hundred (200) feet in depth - 
Butting and Bounding North on land of said D. Rubin formerly of Hoyer 
or others, East on King Street, South on lands of J.C.W. Bischoff and 
West on lands of William Dewees.



1902 (cont'd)

Being the Southern portion of the lot of land conveyed to William 
A. Kenyon by Abraham Sekendorff and Joseph Dothage by deed 
bearing date the 10th day  of January 1873...and conveyed to me 
said Adolph Cramer by the said William A. Kenyon by deed 
bearing date the 13th day of June 1893."

Sanborn Fire Map of Charleston, c. 1902

In the 1902 Sanborn Map, we see a building appear at 629 King Street. It 
is a two story frame building with an iron clad facade.There is also a one 
story detached outbuilding to the rear. 631 King Street is listed as the 
County Dispensary - a two story frame building and one story outbuilding 
far to the rear. 633 King Street is divided between a Barber, Chinese 
laundromat, and the Alhambra Theatre. One portion is a one story brick 
building with frame side, and the other is a one story frame building. Tjere 
also appears to be two two story frame dwellings to the rear.



1917
Deed dating April 3rd, 1917 
conveying 631 King Street from 
Amelia Bischoff et al. to Isaac 
Rubin for the sum of $7,000.  

The property is described as 
detailed below:

"All that lot of land with the buildings and improvements thereon situate, 
lying and being on the West side of King Street near Line Street in the 
City of Charleston, State aforesaid (now lately known as Number 631 
King Street). Measuring and containing on the front and rear lines thirty 
six (36) feet, more or less and in depth two hundred (200) feet be the 
same more or less. Butting and Bounding to the north on land now or 
late of William A. Kenyon, to the South on land now or late of the Estate 
of Henry, to the East on King Street, and to the West on land by ---." The 
said premises hereby conveyed being the same conveyed to the said J. 
Bischoff now deceased by Henry Gerdts by deed dated 24th day of May 
AD 1876."



1932
Deed dated July 30th, 1932 
conveying 631 and 633 
King Street from I. Rubin to 
his wife Sarah Rubin in 
love and affection. 
Recorded in 1934. 

Excerpts from the 
description of the property 
as follows below:

"All that lot of land with the buildings and improvements thereon, 
situate, lying and being on the West side of King Street near Line 
Street in the City of Charleston, State aforesaid, (now or lately known 
as No. 631 King Street) Measuring and Containing on the front and 
rear lines thirty-six (36) feet more or less and in depth Two hundred 
(200) feet be the same more or less... Also: All that lot, piece or 
parcel of land, situate, lying and being in the City of Charleston, in 
said State, and known as No. 633 King Street."



In the 1944 Sanborn, we begin to see the shape of the lots as the 
appear today. 629 King St appears to be an Auto Sales store of wood 
framing, with a detached one story Auto Rep building to the rear. 631 
King St is a two story wood frame building with one story attached 
structure to the rear, and functions as a restaurant. 633 King St is a 
rectangular one story frame building functioning as a restaurant. It is 
attached to 633 1/2 King St, which is a one story  frame building that 
appears to be part of an upholstery business. Behind 633 and 633 1/2 
King St are a small one story outbuilding, a one story frame dwelling, 
and two two story frame dwellings.

1944

Sanborn Fire Map of Charleston, c. 1944



1949

Deed dated October 25th, 
1949 conveying 633 and 
633 1/2 King Street from 
Sevasty Pappas to Thomas 
Pappas in the sum of $1 
(love and affection). 

Description of the property 
is as follows below:

"All that lot, piece or parcel of land, with the buildings and improvements 
thereon, situate, lying and being in the City of Charleston, in the County of 
Charleston and State of South Carolina, known in the present numbering of 
the streets of said city as numbers 633 and 633 1/2 King Street; Measuring 
and Containing in front on King Street, forty (40') feet, six (6") inches, more 
or less, and in depth, two hundred (200') feet, more or less...Said premises 
consisting of two adjoining lots...both of said lots having been conveyed by 
the said I.D. Rubin to Sarah Rubin by deed dated January 18, 1934."



1951

Sanborn Fire Map of Charleston, c. 1951

In the 1951 Sanborn Map, we start to see a resemblance to the 
buildings present in 2017. 629 King St is notated as a one story 
Asbestos Clad frame building, functioning as a store, presumably related 
to auto sales. 631 King St is now a very deep structure - the front 
appears to be the same building from the 1944 Sanborn, with the 
southern piazza now enclosed and a large rear addition made of 
concrete block with windows on the second story. The entire building 
appears to be a furniture store. There is also a new two story concrete 
block furniture warehouse behind the building, the same width as the 
main structure, and attached via an 8 foot tall concrete block wall. 633 
King St is still a one story wood frame building, functioning as a 
restaurant. 633 1/2 is still a one story wood frame store, with a new 
cinder block addition to the rear that includes a window on the first story.



1957

Deed dated September 12th, 
1957 conveying 633 and 633
1/2 King Street from Thomas 
Pappas to Joyce Gianaris and
Mary Lawandales for the sum 
of $1 (love and affection). 

Description of the property is 
as follows below:

"All that lot, piece or parcel of land, with the buildings and improvements 
thereon situate, lying and being in the City of Charleston, in the County of 
Charleston, and State of South Carolina, known in the present numbering 
of the streets of said city as numbers 633 and 633 1/2 King Street; 
Measuring and Containing in front on King Street forty (40') fee, six (6") 
inches, more or less, and in depth two hundred (200') feet, more or less."



1959

Plat of 631, 633, 633 1/2 and 635 King Street, 
completed on Feb 15th, 1959 by Joseph Needle. 

In this plat dated 1959, we can see the extent of 631 King St, which is now 
described as a two story concrete block structure and now includes an 
addition that wraps around the back of 633 and 633 1/2 King St. Both 633 
and 633 1/2 King St are still described as a one story wood frame structure, 
but now include an additional one story detached concrete block structure 
to the rear.



1963

Deed dated September 4th, 
1963 conveying 633 and 633 1/2 
King Street from Joyce Gianaris 
and Mary Lawandales to Wilbur 
Steedly for the sum of 
$5,679.33. 

Note that 631 King St is also 
known as the 'Wilbur Steedly' 
building. 

Description of the property is as 
follows below:

"All that lot, piece or parcel of land, with the buildings and improvements 
thereon situate, lying and being on the West side of King Street in the City 
of Charleston, County of Charleston, State of South Carolina, and known in 
the present numbering of the said street as Numbers 633 and 633 1/2 King 
Street...the above property butts and bounds and measures and contains as 
follows: to the East on King Street forty and five-tenths feet, to the north on
lands of Damon George Thomas one hundred ten feet, to the West on lands 
of Wilbur H. Steedley forty and five-tenths feet; and to the South on lands of 
Wilbur H. Steedley one hundred ten feet, be the said dimensions more or 
less."



1965

Plat dated Feb 12, 1965 by Joseph Needle. 

In this plat dated 1965, we can see that the one story Asbestos 
Clad building at 629 King St still remains, and the Wilbur Steedley 
building at 631 King St has a more precise depth measurement. 



1971 - 1980

City of Charleston tax records indicate that in 1971, a General Retail 
improvement was made to 633 King St, approx 730 Sq Ft. in size. 

They also indicate that in 1971 a General Retail improvement was made 
to 631 King St, approx 7,248 Sq Ft. in size. 



1980 - 2013

633 King St to the left, operating as Henry's-Conaway Drug Store and 
featuring an advertisement for Steedly Furniture on its side. Circa 1982. 

635 King Street to the right, operating as a clothing store. Photo courtesy 
of Historic Charleston Foundation.

(Left): 633 King 
Street, apparently 

vacant, and 635 King 
Street, operating as 
CHOP ministries. 
Circa 2013. Photo 
courtesy of Historic 

Charleston 
Foundation.



2017

(Left) 331 King Street 
c. 2017

(Right) 333 King Street 
C. 2017



Summary and 
Recommendation

629, 631, 633 King Street

Architectural Significance
As of 2017, the parcels known as 629, 631, and 633 King Street 
have radically changed over time. 

629 King St has already been demolished (within the last 50 
years) and was a severe health hazard due to its asbestos 
cement cladding. This was a popular choice in cladding pre-1988 
due to low cost and ease of installation. 

631 King St today is a two story concrete block building that is 
vacant and in severe disrepair. It has been occupied illegally on 
occasion over the years and suffered damage from vandalism. It 
is also a potential asbestos health hazard. Major alterations were 
made to the structure sometime between 1951-1959. The 1951 
Sanborn indicates that the front of the building was still two story 
wood frame, but by 1959, the entire front has been rebuilt in
concrete block. Another major addition was made in 1971. 
Sanborn Maps indicate that the structure has been utilized in a 
commercial capacity for most of its existence, as a Soda Water 
dispensary, Pharmacy, restaurant, and furniture store. The 
architectural style is unremarkable.



633 King St today a two story concrete block building with brick 
facade. The second floor is in a deteriorating condition. The first floor 
is being utilized as office space. The composition and layout of the 
structure today does not reflect the 1959 plat by Joseph Needle, in 
which it is a one story frame building. Today it is a two story concrete 
block building, potentially renovated during the improvements of 1971. 
Sanborn Maps indicate that the structure has typically been utilized in 
a commercial capacity, as a barber, laundry, restaurant, poultry 
warehouse, and more. The architectural style is unremarkable.

Historical Significance

629, 631, and 633 King Street do not contribute to the proposed 
expansion to the National Register listed Charleston Historic District. 
These buildings also have not been formally determined eligible by 
the Keeper of the National Register. 

629, 631, and 633 do not appear to possess individual historical 
significance. In the case of 631 and 633 King Street, the 
architectural styles are not particularly distinctive and the research 
conducted shows businesses, proprietors, and residents typical to 
Upper King Street in the late 19th and early 20th century.

Conclusion

After thorough historical research, it is the conclusion of 
Houselore and its representative, Alexandra Jones, that the 
properties known as 631 and 633 King Street may be demolished 
without significant negative impact on the historic tapestry of 
Upper King Street.



635 and 637 King Street 
Charleston ,SC

635 King St:  Circa 1951-59 
637 King St:  Circa 1985



1888

Sanborn Fire Map of Charleston, c. 1888

The earliest available Sanborn Map c. 1888 depicts 635 King 
Street as a two story stable with shingle roof and notes "Man 
sleeps in stable, City Water". 

It is attached to 637 King Street and the J.H.Hawthorne and 
Co. Sale Stable. 637 depicts an open driveway and wagon 
shed to the front, with open space behind.



1902

Sanborn Fire Map of Charleston, c. 1902

By 1902, the structures previously at 635 and 637 King Street 
has been demolished, and the lot sits empty.



1939

Deed dated May 17th, 1939 
conveying 635 and 637 King 
Street from Home Building 
and Loan Association to 
Damon Ireland Thomas for 
the sum of $4,500. 

The property is described as 
follows below:

"All that lot, piece or parcel of land with the buildings thereon, 
situate, lying and being on the West side of King Street, near Line 
Street, in the City of Charleston, State aforesaid, and known and 
designated as numbers 635  and 637 King Street; Measuring and 
Containing in front on King Street, Fifty (50) Feet, more or less, and 
in depth Two Hundred (200) Feet, more or less."



1942

Deed dated June 29th, 1942 
conveying 635 and 637 King 
Street from D. Ireland Thomas to 
himself and his heirs in the sum of 
$50.  

The description of the property is 
as follows below:

"All that lot, piece or parcel of land, with the buildings thereon, situate, 
lying and being on the West side of King Street, near Line Street, in the 
City of Charleston, State aforesaid, and known and designated as 
numbers 635 and 637 King Street; Measuring and Containing in front 
on King Street Fifty (50) feet, more or less and in depth Two hundred 
(200) feet more or less..."



1944

Sanborn Fire Map of Charleston, c. 1944

In the Sanborn Map of 1944, we see structures once again on 
the lots of 635 and 637 King.  

635 King appears to be a one story wood frame structure utilized 
as an upholstery business. There is a one story automobile 
garage attached to the rear. In the back of the lot, there is a one 
story automobile garage and the empty space appears to be 
utilized for 'Used Car Sales'. 

637 King appears to contain a very small one story wood frame 
building used as an Office. 



1951

Sanborn Fire Map of Charleston, c. 1951

In this Sanborn Map, we see significant changes once again. 

635 King St remains a one story wood frame building, but the 
automobile garage to its rear has been demolished. The garage at 
the far back of the lot has also been demolished. 

637 King St is once again no more - the small one story wood 
frame office that previously occupied the lot has been demolished, 
and it is empty once again.



1955

Deed conveying 635 and 637 
King Street from Damon 
Thomas to Pearl Thomas, his 
wife, for the sum of $5 (love 
and affection).  

Property description is as 
detailed below:

"All that lot, piece or parcel of land with the buildings thereon, situate, 
lying and being on the West side of King Street, near Line Street, in the 
City of Charleston, State aforesaid, and known and designated as 
numbers 635 and 637 King Street; Measuring and Containing in front 
on King Street, Fifty (50) Feet, more or less, and in depth Two Hundred 
(200) Feet, more or less."



1959

In 1959, a plat by Joseph Needle shows that 635 King Street 
is a one story concrete block structure.

Play by Joseph Needle, c. 1959



1980 - 2017

According to 2017 tax records, improvements to 637 King Street in the 
form of a General Office were made in 1985, totaling 2,880 Sq Ft. 

No improvements are mentioned regarding 635 King Street.



1985 - 2017 (cont'd)

635 King St, c. 1982 
Photo Courtesy of Historic 

Charleston Foundation

635 King St, c. 2013 
Photo Courtesy of Historic 

Charleston Foundation



(Left) 635 King St 
c. 2017 

(Left) 637 King St 
c. 2017



Summary and 
Recommendation

635 and 637 King Street

Architectural Significance

As of 2017, 635 King St is a one story structure comprised of 
cinder block. It is currently being utilized as office space. We 
estimate the date of construction to be between 1951-1959. This 
is primarily because the 1951 Sanborn Map depicts a one story 
wood frame building, but the 1959 Needle plat depicts a one story 
cinder block building. The building also changed hands in the mid 
1950s. It has been altered several times since then, particularly in 
regard to the roof. The architectural style of the building is 
unremarkable. 

637 King St is a two story structure comprised of cinder block 
with brick facade. It is currently being utilized for office space. We 
know from the Sanborn Maps that there was no structure on the 
site as of 1951, and according to tax records, 2,880 Sq Ft. of 
office space was constructed at 637 King St in 1985. As a 
result, we estimate the date of construction to be c. 1985. The 
architectural style of the building is unremarkable. 



Historical Significance

635 and 637 King Street do not contribute to the proposed expansion 
to the National Register listed Charleston Historic District. These 
buildings also have not been formally determined eligible by the 
Keeper of the National Register. 

635 and 637 do not appear to possess individual historical 
significance. The research conducted shows businesses, proprietors, 
and residents typical to Upper King Street in the 20th century.

Conclusion

After thorough historical research, it is the conclusion of Houselore 
and its representative, Alexandra Jones, that the properties known as 
635 and 637 King Street may be demolished without significant 
negative impact on the historic tapestry of Upper King Street.



2 Ackerman Court 
Charleston, SC

Circa 1970



1888

Sanborn Fire Map of Charleston, c. 1888

As of 1888, Ackermans Court was known as McMahon Court. We 
can see from this plat that there is a 2 story frame building labeled 
238 1/2 St Philip's St near the location of the current 2 Ackerman 
Court, but no buildings specifically addressed for McMahon Court.



1902

Sanborn Fire Map of Charleston, c. 1902

This is the first record of buildings attributed to Ackerman Court. 2 
Ackerman Court at this time is depicted as a 2 story wood frame 
dwelling house with East facing two story piazza. Note that that building 
labeled 3 Ackerman Court to the south is no longer standing in 2017.



1944

Sanborn Fire Map of Charleston, c 1944

In the 1944 Sanborn Maps, we see significant alterations to the 
structure at 2 Ackerman Court. While it remains a 2 story wood frame 
building, the Eastern facing piazza has been reduced in size and 
centered on the Eastern facade. There is also a very small one story 
wood frame structure attached to the Southern facade to the left.



1949

Deed dated April 20th, 1949 
conveying 2 Ackerman Court 
from J. Arthur Brown to 
James Peterson for the sum 
of $1,200. 

Details of the property follow 
in the description below:

"All that lot, piece or parcel of land with the building and improvements 
thereon, situate, lying and being on the Northern Side of Ackermans 
Court, in the City of Charleston, and known as No. 2 Ackermans Cout; 
Measuring and Containing in front on Ackermans Court Sixty-four (64) 
feet, by Thirty-five (35) feet in depth, be the said dimensions more or 
less; Butting and Bounding to the South on Ackermans Court, to the 
North on lands of ...; to the East on lands formerly of Myers Bros., and to 
the West on lands of Henry Yaschik."



1951

Sanborn Fire Map of Charleston, c. 1951

The 1951 Sanborn Maps show no alteration to 2 Ackerman Court 
since the 1944 Sanborn Maps. 2 Ackerman Court remains a two 
story wood frame building with a small 1 story wood frame structure 
attached.



1968

Deed dating May 13th, 1968 
conveying 2 Ackermans Court 
from James Peterson to Wilbur 
H. Steedly for $3,500. It 
appears that Steedly made a 
court complaint challenging 
Peterson's ownership of the 
property. As a result, the 
property went to auction, and 
Wilbur was the highest bidder. 

Description of the property is 
as follows below:

"All that log, piece or parcel of land, with the buildings and improvements 
thereon, situate, lying and being on the north side of Ackermans Court, in 
the City of Charleston, and known as No. Two (2) Ackermans Court. 
Measuring and Containing in front on Ackermans Court Sixty-four (64) 
feet, by thirty-five (35) feet in depth, be the said dimensions more or less. 
Butting and Bounding to the south on Ackermans Court, to the north on 
lands of    , to the east on lands formerly of Myers Bros, and to the west 
on lands of Henry Yaschik.



1969-1970

Property record card, showing a demolition permit in 1969, exactly one 
year after Wilbur Steedly purchased the property at 2 Ackerman Court. It 
appears that 2 buildings were demolished between 1969-1970, as the 
1969 assessment shows 2 buildings, and the 1970 assessment shows 0.



2017

Southern facade of 2 Ackerman 
Court

Western facade of 2 Ackerman Court

Eastern facade of 2 Ackerman Court



Summary and 
Recommendation

2 Ackerman Court

Architectural Significance

As of 2017, 2 Ackerman Court is a 2 story cinder block structure 
with a 1 story open shed attached on the Eastern facade. 

Based upon available Sanborn Fire Maps, previous deeds, and 
the property's record card, we believe that the current structure 
at 2 Ackerman Court was built  after 1970, coinciding with the 
1969 demolition. The current architectural style is unremarkable.

Historical Significance

2 Ackerman Court does not contribute to the proposed expansion 
to the National Register listed Charleston Historic District. 2 
Ackerman Court does not appear to possess individual historical 
significance. The research conducted shows that the site itself was 
used for dwelling spaces typical to Upper King Street in the 20th 
century, and the current structure is modern and of no significance.



After thorough historical research, it is the conclusion of Houselore 
and its representative, Alexandra Jones, that the property known 
as 2 Ackerman Court may be demolished without significant 
negative impact on the historic tapestry of Upper King Street.

Conclusion



Property History Report 

Alexandra Jones, Principal 
2017

www.houselore.com



Source Documents






